AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER AS A MODEL SYSTEM TO ASSESS THE EFFECT OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS DNA ON INFLAMMATORY GUT DISEASES

JOELLE ROBERT MADI

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon August 2019

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER AS A MODEL SYSTEM TO ASSESS THE EFFECT OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS DNA ON INFLAMMATORY GUT DISEASES

JOELLE ROBERT MADI

Advisor

Approved by:

Elias A. Rahal, PhD, Associate Professor Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology

Margret Shirinian, PhD, Assistant Professor Co-advisor Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology

Ghassan Matar, PhD, Professor and Chairperson Member of Committee Department of Experimental Pathology, Immunology and Microbiology

hk kin

Marwan El-Sabban, PhD, Professor Member of Committee Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences

Date of thesis defense: August 27, 2019

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:	Madi	Joelle	Robert	
	Last	First	Middle	

Ø Master's Thesis

O Master's Project

O Doctoral Dissertation

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes

after: One ---- year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Two ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Three --- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

ø

Joul madi	September 3, 2019
Signature	Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

At the outset, I would like to thank my thesis advisors Dr. Elias Rahal and Dr. Margret Shirinian. Their doors were always open whenever I ran into a trouble spot or had a question. They always steered me in the right direction whenever they thought I needed it. Secondly, I would also like to thank my thesis committee members: Dr. Ghassan Matar and Dr. Marwan El-Sabban for their insightful comments and encouragement.

To my fellow lab members, thank you for your unfailing support and assistance. You were always involved and my work could not have been successfully conducted without you.

Also, I am truly indebted to Dr. Wael Bazzi for sharing with me his valuable experience in the field.

To Dana, Diana, Mirna, and Zeinab. On this journey, I met lifelong friends with whom I have memories to cherish forever.

Last but not least, I must express my very profound gratitude to my family. God blessed me with the best, for God knows that nothing could have been done without Dad, Mom, Jason and Mia.

Finally, one heartfelt thank you goes out to my love, Ralph. You were truly my backbone, inspiration and strength in all its meaning throughout this long journey. I love you.

Thank God for everything.

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

<u>Joelle Robert Madi</u> for <u>Master of Science</u> Major: Microbiology and Immunology

Title: <u>Drosophila melanogaster as a model system to assess the effect of Epstein-Barr</u> virus DNA on inflammatory gut diseases

Background: The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), also referred to as *Human herpesvirus 4* (HHV-4), commonly infects humans and is highly associated with different types of cancer, such as gastric carcinomas, and autoimmune diseases, such as systemic lupus erythematosus. EBV has shown residency in human inflamed gastrointestinal mucosa in patients suffering from inflammation of the digestive tract such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD); this indicates that this virus potentially plays a role in sustaining inflammation. Our group has previously reported the immune-stimulating capabilities of EBV DNA in *Drosophila melanogaster* as well as in mammalian immune systems. In flies, we observed increased systemic hemocyte counts and enhanced Immune Deficiency (IMD) pathway activation while pro-inflammatory cytokine levels were increased by EBV administration to mice. Hence, we used the fly as a model system to explore the effect of EBV DNA on intestinal damage.

<u>Methods</u>: Adult *D. melanogaster* flies were fed on 5% dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) solubilized in 5% sucrose in the absence or presence of EBV DNA. DSS was used to induce potential damage in fly gut tissues that would then possibly allow EBV DNA to induce alterations. Flies that were fed EBV DNA in the absence of DSS or 5% sucrose as a vehicle were included as well. To assess the impact of EBV DNA administration on the immune status of the gut, Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP)-expressing hemocytes in the gut were examined as well as GFP-expressing systemic hemocytes. GFP-marked intestinal stem cells (ISCs) and enteroblasts were assessed as indicators of fly midgut regeneration while the relative expression of *Diptericin* was determined by real-time reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) as a marker of IMD pathway activation in the gut.

<u>Results</u>: Increased numbers of hemocytes were observed in the hindguts of flies that were administered DSS as compared to the controls; administration of EBV DNA to the DSS-fed flies further increased the levels of hemocytes in fly hindguts. Moreover, the relative gene expression of *Diptericin*, as a marker of the IMD pathway, in the gut was also enhanced upon feeding flies DSS for 24 hours and then EBV DNA for 24 hours compared to controls that were fed DSS for 24 hours then sucrose, the vehicle, for 24 hours.

<u>Conclusions</u>: Observing increased hemocytes and enhanced innate immunity in the fly gut upon feeding EBV DNA is indicative of increased intestinal damage over DSS alone. In light of the immunostimulatory properties of EBV DNA, the study at hand indicates that EBV DNA may trigger proinflammatory processes in human gut diseases. This, however, requires further investigation.

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	X
LIST OF TABLES	xi
Chapter	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	2
 A. Epstein-Barr Virus 1. EBV Structure 2. EBV Viral Genome 3. EBV Strain Variation 4. EBV Transmission 5. EBV Infection 6. EBV Diseases 	2 2 3 4 5 5 6
a. EBV in Gastro-Intestinal Inflammatory Diseases B. Drosophila melanogaster	6 8
 D. melanogaster – Innate Immunity	8 9 9 10 10 11
 b. <i>D. metanogaster</i> – Digestive Tract Anatomy	1 2 2 3

iii. Antimicrobial Peptide Production	13
iv. Gut-associated hemocytes	14
d. D. melanogaster – Intestinal Stem Cell Regeneration	14
e. The D. melanogaster Hindgut	16
III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
A. Flies	17
1 Fly Stocks	17
2. Fly Pushing	17
B. Treatments	17
C. Dissections, Immunostaining and Fluorescent Microscopy	18
D. Hemolectin-Positive Cell Count	20
1. Gut Hemolectin-Positive Cell Counts	20
a. Statistical Analysis	20
2. Systemic Hemolectin-Positive Cell Counts	20
a. Statistical Analysis	21
E. Intestinal Stem Cell Regeneration Analysis 1. Statistical Analysis	21 21
F. Diptericin Relative Gene Expression Analysis	22
1. RNA Extraction	22
a. RNA Extraction from Non-DSS Treated Flies	22
b. RNA Extraction from DSS Treated-Flies	23
2. cDNA Synthesis	24
3 Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	24
a. Statistical Analysis	25
IV. RESULTS	26
A. Validating Fly Treatment Uptake	26
B. Number of Hemolectin-Positive Cells in Adult Male Fly Hindgut	26
C. Number of GFP Positive Cells in Adult Male Fly Bleed	27
D. Intestinal Stem Cell Regeneration in Adult Male Fly Hindgut	28
E. Relative Gene Expression Levels of Diptericin	28
V. DISCUSSION	42

ILLUSTRATIONS

igure	Page
: Feeding Experiment Protocol	30
: Verifying Treatment Uptake	31
: Hindguts of Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP Male Flies after Feeding on Different Treatments.	.32
: Percent of Male Fly Hindguts with GFP/Hemolectin Positive Cells after Feeding on Different Treatments	33
: Immunolabeling of <i>Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP</i> Male Fly Hindguts after Feeding on ifferent Treatments	34
: Flow Cytometry on <i>Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP</i> Hemolymph of Male Flies after Feeding on Different Treatments.	n 35
: Midguts of esg-Gal4, UAS-GFP/+ Male Flies after Feeding on Different Treatments.	.36
: Mean Fluorescence Intensity of Intestinal Stem Cells (ISCs) and Enteroblasts in the Idgut of Male Flies after Feeding on Different Treatments	37
: Relative Expression Levels of <i>Diptericin</i> in Guts from Male Flies after Feeding on Different Treatments.	38

TABLES

Table	Page
1: Fly Feeding Regimen	39
2: Sequencing and Annealing Temperatures for <i>RPL11</i> and <i>Diptericin</i> Primers	40
3: Percent of Fly Hindguts with \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin Positive Cells after Feeding or Different Treatments of DSS and/or EBV	ı 41

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), also referred to as the Human herpesvirus 4 (HHV-4), belongs to the *Herpesvirinae* family and is capable of establishing life-long latency in the infected host. EBV is associated with infectious mononucleosis in addition to various types of cancers and immune-mediated diseases such as inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs). IBDs include Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, conditions that have the colon inflamed over a long period of time. The reactivation of EBV may result in the consistent shedding of DNA which could trigger innate immune pathways. Our group has previously shown that EBV DNA has immunomodulatory properties in mammalian systems as well as in Drosophila melanogaster. In this latter model, EBV DNA led to the activation of the Immune Deficiency (IMD) pathway marked by enhanced *Diptericin* expression in addition to resulting in increased systemic hemocyte numbers. D. melanogaster, a simple but efficient model, shares some similarities with mammalian immune responses in addition to digestive tract anatomy and histology. Hence, with the ultimate objective being to establish D. melanogaster as a model system to examine the role EBV DNA may play in IBDs, the specific aims of the study at hand were to:

- 1- Assess the effect of EBV DNA on cellular inflammatory responses and regenerational ones in the *D. melanogaster* gut.
- 2- Assess the effect of EBV DNA on the IMD humoral innate immune response in the *D. melanogaster* gut.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Epstein-Barr Virus

The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), also referred to as the *Human herpesvirus 4* (HHV-4), is a prototype of the *Lymphocryptovirus* genus of the *Gammaherpesvirinae* subfamily belonging to the *Herpesvirinae* family (1). The latter is a large family of viruses divided into three subfamilies: *Alphaherpesvirinae*, *Betaherpesvirinae* and *Gammaherpesvirinae*. The subfamilies have different cellular tropisms whereby the *Alphaherpesvirinae* infect neurons and both *Beta-* and *Gammaherpesvirinae* infect lymphocytes and epithelial cells. Eight members of the *Herpesvirinae* family primarily infect humans, including EBV which infects the majority of the world's population (2). The *Herpesvirinae* family is capable of establishing latency with EBV believed to be persistent due to its ability to commonly undergo reactivation after primary infection and establishment of latency (2-5).

1. EBV Structure

Like other herpesviruses, EBV has a lipid bilayer envelope surrounding an icosahedral capsid, comprised of 162 capsomeres, that further encloses the dsDNA viral genome (6). The viral envelope contains virus-encoded glycoproteins that include gp350/220 and gB which are involved in the attachment of the virus to the CD21 receptor on target cell membrane and the fusion of the viral envelope with the target cell membrane, respectively (7-9). The icosahedral capsid consists of major and minor proteins, hence EBV-specific

capsid proteins consist of the following: *Bam*HI-c leftward reading frame number 1 (BcLF1) as the major capsid protein, *Bam*HI-D leftward reading frame number 1 (BDLF 1 (triplex 2)) along with *Bam*HI-O rightward reading frame number 1 (BORF1 (triplex 1)) as the minor capsid proteins and *Bam*HI-F rightward reading frame number 3 (BFRF3) as the small capsid protein (7, 10). EBV capsids range from 80 to 100 μ m in diameter and assemble in the nuclei of infected cells (2). A protein tegument or viral matrix is located between the nucleocapsid and the envelope which consists of a number of amorphous proteins including the heat-shock protein 70 (Hsp-70) (11).

2. EBV Viral Genome

The EBV genome is linear, double stranded DNA that is approximately 172 kilobase pairs in length and that encodes for more than 85 genes. The viral genome contains terminal direct repeats (TRs), which are implicated in the formation of episomes during latency in addition to four internal repeat sequences (IRs) that divide the genome into short and long sequences, U1 and U2 respectively. The genes coded for by the viral genome are divided into latent and lytic genes. Most of the genes are involved in the lytic phase except for a few latent proteins that include Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNAs) and three latent membrane proteins (LMPs 1, 2A and 2B) (12).

EBV DNA was shown to have immunomodulatory properties in multiple systems. It was reported to trigger interferon alpha (IFN- \propto) and IL-8 secretions from human monocytes and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in a Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9)-dependent manner. TLR9 is an endosomal pattern recognition receptor (PRR) known to recognize

CpG (cytosine-phosphodiester bond-guanine)-rich unmethylated DNA such as that of the nascent EBV genome (13). In mice, EBV DNA was shown to have immune stimulatory capabilities via enhancing the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin 17A (IL-17A) which is associated with autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA). This coincided with an increase of IL-23, another pro-autoimmune cytokine required for sustaining the IL-17 response (14). Moreover, another study conducted on mice and mouse peripheral blood mononuclear cells showed that EBV DNA was capable of modulating IL-17A and IL-23 levels by initially altering T helper 17 cells levels with the involvement of TLR9, making this endosomal receptor a possible therapeutic target with autoimmune diseases. The same study assessed a linear correlation between EBV DNA copy numbers and IL-17A levels in RA patients, which was not observed in non-RA patients (15). In Drosophila melanogaster, EBV DNA lead to an increase in hemocyte numbers through triggering the immune deficiency (IMD) pathway that is comparable to the tumor necrosis factor receptor signaling pathway in mammals. This was further developed in the same study, by which enhanced RNA expression of the tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- \propto), a pro-inflammatory cytokine, was observed upon injecting mice with EBV DNA (16).

3. EBV Strain Variation

There are two major strains of the EBV virus, EBV1 and EBV2, which are also referred to as type A and type B. The two strains mainly differ in genetic sequences coding for the Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNAs) (17, 18). Additional variants of EBV have risen likely due to various types of pressure including immunological ones (19-21).

4. EBV Transmission

EBV naturally infects humans and its main route of transmission is through saliva (22). Other possible modes of transmission include blood transfusions and organ transplantation (23, 24). Genital contact, transplacental transmission along with breastfeeding as modes of transmission for EBV are limited, although they had been studied due to rare reports (25-31).

5. EBV Infection

The EBV virus transmitted through oropharynx secretions (22) has an incubation period of about 6 weeks before its viral symptoms emanate (32). EBV spreads from the saliva to the epithelial cells of the pharynx and salivary glands located in the oropharynx where lytic infection takes place. The EBV viral envelope fuses with the infected cell plasma membrane with the aid of the envelope glycoproteins. Subsequently, the virus infects Blymphocytes localized in the oropharynx; furthermore infected B-lymphocytes transmit the infection to other B- lymphocytes throughout the body. A long-term latency is then established in memory B cells upon the initiation of the pre-latent phase in which the prelatent genes are expressed once the viral genome enters the nuclei of the B cells (33, 34).The latent phase takes over the pre-latent phase after a period of 2 weeks due to an epigenetic modification that involves an increase in the level of CpG methylation of the viral genomic DNA. Reactivation involves the reestablishment of the unmethylated genomic state due to an exogenous signal that leads to the reseeding of the virus into lymphoid compartments (34). Although EBV infects epithelial cells, the perception is that

EBV is predominantly a B-lymphotrophic virus. This perception was challenged when multiple lines of evidence indicated that the cellular tropism of EBV is not limited to CD21 lymphocytes based on the detection of the virus in T cells and some other types of cells (35).

6. EBV Diseases

Primary infection with EBV is usually asymptomatic in childhood, but causes infectious mononucleosis syndrome in adulthood (36). EBV was the first human tumor virus to be isolated from a cell line derived from Burkitt lymphoma (37) and it is associated with many types of autoimmune diseases and cancers including Hodgkin's lymphoma (38), Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (39), post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (40), nasopharyngeal carcinoma (41) and gastric carcinoma (42, 43). Ten percent of gastric carcinomas contain EBV-carrying tumor cells taking into consideration that the persistence of EBV in gastric epithelium may contribute to the development of the cancer (42, 44-46). EBV infections are also associated with various autoimmune diseases including rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (47).

a. EBV in Gastro-Intestinal Inflammatory Diseases

The detection of EBV in gastric tissue, whether healthy or diseased, dates back to the 1990's (42, 44-46). Not only has the association of EBV with gastric tumorigenesis been well reported, its detection in inflamed gastrointestinal mucosa indicates an association that is currently under investigation. EBV is present at low levels in healthy gastric and colonic mucosa but the latter tends to carry greater loads of the virus as it conveys a greater

association with chronic inflammatory cells than gastric mucosa. Hence, the viral loads in the different gastro-anatomical regions discussed are related to the number of EBV infected B cells. EBV has been detected in various types of inflammatory gastrointestinal types of conditions including gastritis lesions, Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis with the following ranges: 55%-63.6% EBV positive Crohn's samples, 64%-76% EBV positive ulcerative colitis samples and 46% EBV positive gastritis samples (48-52). The association of EBV with inflamed tissue in the gut could be due to an infiltration of the virus into inflamed tissue, a gastritis either caused secondarily to an EBV infection (53-56)or due to chronic active Epstein-Barr virus (CAEBV) infection (57). CAEBV infection results from defective EBV-infected natural killer (NK) or T cell activity leading to recurrent or persistent mononucleosis-like symptoms (58, 59). CAEBV patients have persistence in the elevation of the EBV viral load in blood as well as infiltration of tissue by EBV infected NK, T and B cells; EBV is predominantly present in NK cells and T cells among Asian CAEBV patients while it is predominant in T or B cells in patients from the United States (49, 59). The only way to treat CAEBV is for patients to undergo hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Symptoms associated with CAEBV that differentiate it from other gastroinflammatory EBV associations include fever, persistent lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, and EBV hepatitis (59).

Several factors highlight the need to evaluate the role played by EBV in inflammatory diseases of the gastrointestinal tract. On one hand, co-infection with EBV and *Helicobacter pylori* is more severe than infection with either pathogen alone and results in mononuclear (MN) and polymorphonuclear (PMN) cell infiltration (60). On the other

hand, levels of EBV detected in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) inflamed tissues exceed what is expected based on the number of B-lymphocytes generally present in inflamed tissue; while both the EBV viral load and the number of B lymphocytes are elevated in these inflamed tissues, these elevations are not proportionate to one another (48). Moreover, the detection of EBV viral lytic proteins, *Bam*HI-M rightward reading frame number 1 (BMRF1) and *Bam*HI-Z leftward reading frame number 1 (BZLF1), expressed in some ulcerative colitis lesions raises the possibility that active viral replication plays a role in perpetuating the gastro-intestinal inflammation (48). Therefore, several aspects of the involvement of EBV in these diseases remain to be elucidated.

B. Drosophila melanogaster

1. D. melanogaster – Innate Immunity

Unlike mammals, flies are devoid of adaptive immunity and rely solely on their innate immunity as a defense mechanism against infections (61). The innate immune system in *D. melanogaster* consists of epithelial barriers, humoral reactions, cellular reactions and the anti-viral RNA interference pathway (62). The three major fly humoral immune pathways include: the Toll pathway, the immune deficiency pathway (IMD) and the Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathway. Moreover, humoral reactions also include melanization and coagulation. Cellular reactions include macrophage-like-hemocyte dependent phagocytosis, melanization and fights against parasitic infestation (63-66).

a. <u>Cellular Immunity</u>

The cellular immune response in flies consists of hemocytes which are divided into three groups: plasmatocytes, lamellocytes and crystal cells. They arise from two origins: the embryonic head mesoderm and the lymph gland. Plasmatocytes, represent 95% of total hemocytes, are phagocytic and play a role in clotting responses and are homologs of mammalian monocytes. Crystal cells, represent 5% of total hemocytes and are involved in melanization which leads to the destruction of pathogens. On the other hand, lamellocytes are involved in combatting parasitoid wasps or parasites. (67-69).

b. <u>Humoral Immunity</u>

Signaling pathways known to be activated through distinct activators, mentioned below, have also potential trans-activation and high levels of cross-talk (70).

i. The Toll Pathway

The Toll pathway is involved in innate immune responses against fungal and Gram positive bacterial infections that lead to the production of anti-microbial peptides (AMP) such as drosomycin (71). Nine Toll receptors have been discovered in *D. melanogaster*. The AMP production occurs through Toll-1 and Toll-9 shows the greatest homology to the 10 human Toll-like receptors (72, 73). Unlike mammalian Toll-like receptors, the *Drosophila* toll pathway is not activated by direct binding to a pathogen but its activation requires the binding of the active form of its ligand spatzle that leads to an activation cascade that results in the transcription of AMPs (74). Mammalian Toll-like receptors play a role solely

in immunity whereas the *Drosophila* Toll pathway plays a role in immunity and development (75, 76). Moreover, the Toll-pathway in *Drosophila* is also involved in controlling the proliferation and differentiation of hemocytes decreased circulating hemocytes were observed in Toll mutants in comparison to wild type flies (77).

ii. The Immune Deficiency Pathway (IMD)

The IMD pathway is activated upon the binding of mono-diaminopimelic acid-type peptidoglycan (DAP-type PGN), that is found in all Gram negative bacteria and in some Gram positive bacteria, to the transmembrane receptor peptidoglycan recognition protein-LC (PGRP-LC) (61, 78-80). It may also play a role in some viral infections (81). The IMD pathway is comparable to the tumor necrosis factor receptor signaling pathway in humans. It is responsible for the expression of the majority of AMPs in *Drosophila* including *Diptericin*, hence it is a vital pathway in immunity (78, 82).

iii. <u>The Janus Kinase/Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription (JAK/STAT)</u><u>Pathway</u>

The JAK/STAT pathway plays a role in innate immunity and intestinal stem cell proliferation in *D. melanogaster* (83). It is also shown to be involved in antiviral immune responses in flies and mammals (84). It is activated upon the release of the unpaired proteins Upd1, Upd2 and Upd3 released from damaged cells that attach the transmembrane Domeless receptor. The ligand-receptor binding leads to the phosphorylation of STAT92e, a transcription factor that leads to the expression of genes such as the stress response gene *turnadot A* (78, 85).

2. Drosophila melanogaster – Digestive Tract

Drosophila melanogaster serves as a model to study the mammalian gastro-intestinal inflammation. Feeding dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) to flies leads to gut inflammation resembling that observed in inflamed mammalian gastro-intestinal tissue such as that seen in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients (86).

a. <u>D. melanogaster – Digestive Tract Anatomy</u>

The modeling of human intestinal diseases is possible in *D. melanogaster* because of high degree of conservation between *D. melanogaster* and mammalian intestinal development, regeneration and the signaling pathways that control them (87). There are structural similarities throughout the mammalian and *D. melanogaster* digestive tracts. As an example, the small intestine- large-intestine-rectum-anus in mammals resemble the midgut-hindgut-rectum-anus in *D. melanogaster*, respectively. The main differences between the two systems include kindey-like malpighian tubules that empty into the *D. melanogaster* gut, along with the red papillae required for water absorption in the *D. melanogaster* midgut (88-90).

b. <u>D. melanogaster - Digestive Tract Histology</u>

Tissue similarities are also shared among the fruit fly and human intestines, whereby both the mammalian gut and the Drosophila midgut are of endothelial origin (91, 92). They are both comprised of an epithelial monolayer of columnar or cuboidal enterocytes that contain cytoplasmic extensions on their apical side referred to as microvilli. These microvilli

increase the cellular surface area facing the gut lumen hence creating the brush border (93-95). Above the brush border, a mucus layer protects the intestine from intestinal microbes in addition to the peritrophic matrix, specific for the *Drosophila* gut that also participates in hindering microbial infections in the midgut and the hindgut (96, 97). On the basal side of the enterocytes lies the basement membrane which consists of an extracellular collagenous matrix (98). Underneath the basement membrane is an external innervated and oxygenated muscular layer that drives peristaltic movements of the intestine (99-101). The mammalian gut contains crypts (102) and three layers localized between the external muscular layer and the basement membrane that include: the submucosa, the muscularis mucosae and the lamina propria (103) which are absent in *D. melanogaster* guts.

c. <u>D. melanogaster - Digestive Tract Immunity</u>

D. melanogaster gut defenses consist of:

i. Epithelial Barrier/Peritrophic Matrix

The *D. melanogaster* peritrophic matrix, an acellular structure composed of chitin polymers and glycoproteins, is analogous to the mucus layer in the mammalian gut and it mainly functions as an intestinal shield from microbes as it is semi-permeable with its permeability being tightly controlled by protein-protein crosslinking (104-106). The drosocrystallin (dcy) protein that is an important constituent of the *Drosophila* eye lense, is also an important component of the peritrophic matrix. A mutation in the *dcy* gene leads to a reduction in the width of the matrix and increased susceptibility to oral infections as a consequence of increased permeability to larger molecules in the gut. Oral infections

induce remodeling of the peritrophic matrix which includes an up-regulation in the dcy expression leading to increased cross-linking in the drosocrystallin protein to further protect the gut from exotoxins (107).

ii. The Production of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Reactive oxygen species are produced by the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase family of proteins which includes the dual oxidase (DUOX) protein that is expressed in *D. melanogaster* plasma membranes (108). The DUOX protein is responsible for gut defenses against yeast and several bacterial infections. Bacterial-derived uracil is the ligand for DUOX-dependent reactive oxygen species formation under the control of the Hedgehog signaling pathway. Uracil-activated Hedgehog signaling leads to the cell adhesion molecule Cadherin 99C (Cad99C) dependent endosome production which results in ROS production (109). The production of ROS eliminates pathogens but also leads to intestinal damage thus ROS production is followed by intestinal stem cell regeneration to maintain gut homeostasis (110).

iii. Antimicrobial Peptide Production

Systemically, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are produced by the fat body in *D. melanogaster* and that is controlled by the two major innate immune pathways: The Toll and the IMD pathways. Locally, gut-produced AMPs are solely controlled by the IMD pathway through an inducible manner whereby AMP genes are expressed in the gut epithelia which is also under the control of the IMD pathway (111). While the Toll pathway is not active in the gut, the JAK/STAT pathway control some gut AMP production in response to intestinal cell damage (112).

iv. Gut-associated Hemocytes

Gut-associated hemocytes are multi-functional, ranging from phagocytosing pathogens, such as bacteria, to taking part in controlling intestinal stem cell regeneration. Hemocytes tend to be found as aggregates in the *Drosophila* intestinal lumen and attached to the visceral muscle located around the midgut. Hemocyte-derived Decapentaplegic (Dpp), a bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) mammalian homolog, is required for the proliferation of intestinal stem cells (67, 113). Mammalian immune cells have also been shown to play a role in the regeneration of intestinal epithelium (114-116).

d. D. melanogaster - Intestinal Stem Cell Regeneration

Intestinal stem cells (ISCs) are found in both mammalian and *D. melanogaster* guts (117, 118). The ISC composition, their regeneration and the conserved signaling pathways that control their regeneration show resemblance in both systems (119). Tissue homeostasis requires ISCs to divide and replenish intestinal cells that are lost as a result of any kind of stress imposed on the gut such as inflammation. Mammalian ISCs, located at the bottom of intestinal crypts near Paneth cells self-renew and give rise to the pluripotent transit amplifying (TA) cells (120). TA cells lie directly above the ISCs and undergo divisions to mature into the specialized intestinal stem cells such as secretory Paneth cells as they progress upwards towards the crypt openings (102, 121). *D. melanogaster* ISCs are located basally and divide to give rise to enteroblasts which are transient cells that mature into

either absorptive enterocytes or hormone-secreting enteroendocrine cells which are also present in the mammalian intestine. The D. melanogaster midgut is the section that has been the most associated with a rich population of intestinal stem cells; on the other hand, the presence of ISCs in the hindgut has been debatable although some reports have indicated that they may be present in the hindgut proliferative zone (HPZ) (122). There are conserved signaling pathways involved in the control of intestinal stem cell regeneration amongst mammals and the fruit fly. The mammalian Wingless/Integrated (Wnt) and its well conserved D. melanogaster Wingless (Wg) pathway is necessary for the maintenance of ISCs in their undifferentiated states (102, 123, 124). The Notch pathway, another well conserved pathway between mammals and the fruit fly, is involved in ISC regeneration and results in the differentiation of transient cells in D. melanogaster to specify their fate as either absorptive or secretory cells (102, 124). In mammals, Notch induces the proliferation of ISCs (102). Some other well conserved signaling pathways among mammals and D. *melanogaster* that control intestinal stem cell regeneration include: platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF; PVF in Drosophila), c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK), insulin receptor (INSR; InR in Drosophila) and Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathways (87). The JAK/STAT pathway is activated in the D. *melanogaster* gut upon the release of the unpaired proteins Upd1, Upd2 and Upd3 cytokines from damaged ISCs (99). The homologous pathway in mammals involves the cytokine interleukin-6 (IL-6) which induces intestinal inflammation (125).

e. The D. melanogaster Hindgut

The hindgut begins from the malphigian tubules and is divided into three sections: the pylorus that controls the passage of gut content, the ileum that is responsible for absorption and excretion of water ions and the rectum (126). Although the presence ISCs in the hindgut has not been well determined, previous studies report that stem cells of the hindgut may be confined to an area known as the hindgut proliferative zone (HPZ). The HPZ is confined to the adult pylorus and is controlled by the Wnt and Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathways (122). Several recent studies refer to these stem cells as "sleeping beauties", as in they remain quiescent but are capable of proliferating in response to tissue injury (127, 128). Moreover, the hindgut responds to tissue damage by stimulating differentiated cells to divide in comparison to the continuously regenerating intestinal stem cells of the midgut (128). The fast turnover of midgut cells and the silent stem cells of the hindgut resemble the mammalian intestinal crypt stem cells, some of which divide rapidly while others are silent (129). Innate immune responses in the hindgut are not well understood; however, a study conducted on a fly cancer model showed that the IMD pathway controls Ras-activated hindgut cell. This innate immune pathway was involved in driving Ras-activated hindgut cell invasion and dissemination upon challenge with a bacterial infection (129, 130). Whether the IMD pathway is involved in innate immune responses in the hindgut of a noncancer fly model remains to be determined.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Flies

1. Fly Stocks

Flies were maintained on regular fly food at 25°C. Standard *Drosophila* husbandry procedures were conducted at 25°C. *Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP* (gift from Dan Hultmark), *esg-Gal4, UAS-GFP/Cyo* (Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center: 67054) and wild type flies (Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center: 3605) were used in this study.

2. Fly Pushing

Virgin females were identified by their meconium and used to set up crosses. Day 0 males were collected and treated to conduct this study.

B. Treatments

Three-day old adult male flies were transferred from feeding on regular fly food into a vial fitted with a filter paper (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA) at its base. Different treatments were prepared to feed the flies: 5% sucrose was prepared by dissolving 5 g sucrose in 100 ml Millipore water and 5% DSS was prepared by dissolving 0.025 g of DSS (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) in 500 ul of 5% sucrose. For EBV DNA (Amplirun Epstein-Barr Virus DNA Control, Vircell Microbiologists, Granada, Spain) treatment, 288,000 copies of the viral DNA were added to 5% sucrose or 5% DSS as detailed below (Table 1; Figure 1).

Five hundred μ l of the sucrose solution were applied to the filter paper for flies in Group 1 which fed on this preparation for the subsequent 48 hours. Five hundred μ l of the DSS solution were applied onto the filter paper for flies in Group 2; after 24 hours the filter paper for these flies was switched to one that was wet with 500 µl of sucrose for another 24 hours. For Group 3, flies fed on 500 μ l of the DSS solution applied to the filter paper for the subsequent 48 hours. Flies in Group 4 fed on filter paper wet with 500 µl of the sucrose solution that contained 288,000 copies of EBV DNA for 48 hours. Group 5 flies were fed off a filter paper wet with 500 µl of DSS solution containing 288,000 copies of EBV DNA for 48 hours. Five hundred µl of the DSS solution were applied onto the filter paper for flies in Group 6; after 24 hours the filter paper for these flies was switched to one that was wet with 500 µl of sucrose including 288,000 copies of EBV DNA for another 24 hours. To verify that flies were feeding off of the filter paper, 20 adult wild type flies (w^{1118}) were fed on: 500 µl of 5% sucrose that contained 288,000 copies of fluorescein-labelled EBV DNA, or 500 µl of 5% DSS that contained 288,000 copies of fluorescein-labelled EBV DNA or on 500 µl of 5% sucrose only (Advanced Biotechnologies, Colombia, MD). Images to verify the adult wild type fly feeding were taken on a fluorescent stereomicroscope (Olympus SZX 10, Waltham, MA).

All groups were fed at 25°C before gut dissections were performed.

C. Dissections, Immunostaining and Fluorescent Microscopy

For gut dissections, the entire gut was pulled out from the posterior end of the male fly using forceps (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Dumont, Number 5, Hatfield, PA) directly

into 1X phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) on a cold glass plate, by following the listed steps. The fly head was first removed to detach the gut from any attached tissue. Then the posterior end of the gut was pulled out slightly by grasping the male genitals outwards. To prevent the gut from ripping apart, the fly thorax was detached from the fly abdomen before the gut was completely pulled out of the posterior end of the fly. The detaching midway throughout the dissection allows the gut to pass through less tissue on its way out of the posterior end of the fly. Guts were then fixed in 4% formaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 20 minutes followed by three washes of 10 minutes each using 1X PBS-0.3% Triton X-100 (PBST). Next, guts were placed in blocking solution (5% normal goat serum (Dako, Santa Clara, CA)) for 30 minutes. Guts were subsequently incubated overnight with either or a mixture of the following primary antibodies diluted in blocking solution: mouse anti-P1 IgG (Kind gift from Istvan Ando, 1:100), and rabbit anti-Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) IgG (Abcam, 1:500). The guts were then washed in PBST three times for 10 minutes and incubated with the following fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies diluted in blocking solution: AlexaFluor-594 anti-mouse IgG (Abcam, 1:500) and AlexaFluor-488 anti-rabbit IgG (Abcam, 1:500). After two hours of incubation with the secondary antibody, the guts were washed with PBST three times for 10 minutes. Samples were then mounted onto microscope slides using Fluoroshield Mounting Medium with DAPI (Abcam). The entire dissection/fixation process was performed on ice. Images were acquired using a laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss Laser Scanning Microscopy 710, Jena, Germany).

D. Hemolectin-Positive Cell Count

1. Gut Hemolectin-Positive Cell Counts

To count GFP-Hemolectin-positive cells in guts obtained from flies treated as described above (~50 guts per group) using the *Hml-Gal4*, *UAS-GFP* fly line, the Image-based Tool for Counting Nuclei (ITCN) plugin on ImageJ 1.49v was used. The following parameters were employed: a width of 10 pixels, a minimum distance of 10 pixels and a threshold of 0.8 without detecting any dark peaks.

a. <u>Statistical Analysis</u>

To analyze cell-count statistical significance the chi squared test was used. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

2. Systemic Hemolectin-Positive Cell Counts

Five *Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP* adult flies per group were bled in 40 μ l of 8% BSA (Bovine Serum Albumin, Sigma-Aldrich) -1X PBS on a Parafilm strip by pricking the flies on their thorax using a needle. The adult flies were allowed to bleed for 30 seconds before the bleed was removed and suspended in 160 μ l of 8%BSA- 1X PBS. The same procedure was done for wild type flies as a negative control. The flies were freshly bled and read by the Guava Millipore machine (Guava EasyCyte8 Flow Cytometer- Milliporesigma, Burlington, MA). The number of events to count the cells was set to 10000. The samples were vortexed before every run. The wild type fly bleed was run first and the GFP fluorescence signal threshold was set so that it does not exceed 10¹. The Gain controls were set to 378 for the Forward scatter, 159 for the Side scatter and 8 for the green fluorescence. Each sample was repeated 3 times. The protocol was modified from Anderl, et al., 2016 (131). The plots were gated with two gates; GFP and non-GFP populations. Each gate encompassed the cell count, percentage and mean.

a. <u>Statistical Analysis</u>

To analyze statistical significance for GFP positive cells detected by flow cytometry, the unpaired t-test was performed. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

E. Midgut Intestinal Stem Cell Regeneration Analysis

To analyze an increase in midgut intestinal stem cell regeneration, the fly line: *esg-Gal4*, *UAS-GFP/+* was used. Escargot (Esg) is a zinc-finger transcription factor expressed in ISCs and enteroblasts that also plays a role in maintaining cell identity (117). The cells marked by *esg* are restricted to the midgut region only. The fluorescence intensity measure in the midgut of each group was assessed on ImageJ 1.49v

1. Statistical Analysis

To analyze statistical significance for the fluorescence intensity, the unpaired t-test was performed. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

F. Diptericin Relative Gene Expression Analysis

To assess the relative expression of *Diptericin* as an indicator of the fly IMD immune pathway, flies were treated as detailed above, their guts were obtained and RNA was then extracted for real time PCR analysis. Duplicates of the experiment were performed.

1. RNA Extraction

Two different RNA extraction protocols were followed depending on the sample type: one protocol was used for flies that were administered DSS while the other was employed for all other fly groups. DSS causes DNA polymerase and reverse transcriptase inhibition (132) hence preventing real time assessment unless a particular protocol was employed to remove DSS as described below.

a. RNA Extraction from Non-DSS Treated Flies

Thirty guts per group from flies treated as described in Table 1/Figure 1 were homogenized using a pestle in a volume of 200 μ l of TRI reagent (TRI reagent, Sigma-Aldrich). They were then incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature in the lysis medium. Then, 40 μ l of chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich) were added to the sample and shaken vigorously for 15 seconds. The sample was left at room temperature for 3 minutes before it was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred into a new tube and 100 μ l of isopropanol was added followed by shaking and a 10-minute incubation period at room temperature. The sample was then centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was washed with 200 μ l of 75% ethanol followed by a centrifugation for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was then air-dried and re-dissolved in 20

μl RNase-free water. The entire procedure was completed on ice. The concentration and purity of the RNA were measured using a microspectrophotometer (Denovix Tc 312, Wilmington, DE).

b. RNA Extraction from DSS Treated-Flies

RNA extraction was also performed using TRIzol (TRI reagent, Sigma-Aldrich) and lithium chloride (Sigma-Aldrich). A volume of 300 µl of TRI reagent was added onto 60 guts from each group that included DSS. The guts were homogenized using a pestle and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature in the lysis medium. Then, 288 μ l of chloroform were added to the sample and shaken vigorously for 15 seconds. The sample was left at room temperature for 3 minutes before 132 μ l of isopropanol were added. The sample was shaken vigorously again for 15 seconds before it was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then transferred into a new tube containing lithium chloride with a final concentration of 2M and it was incubated overnight at 4°C (133). Subsequently, the sample was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed with an equal amount of 2M lithium chloride. The sample was centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 minutes at 4° C. The supernatant was discarded again and the pellet was washed twice with 300 µl of 70% ethanol, each wash followed by centrifugation at 12,000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was then re-suspended in 10 µl RNase-free water. The entire procedure was completed on ice. The concentration and purity of the RNA were measured using a microspectrophotometer (Denovix Tc 312, Wilmington, DE).

2. cDNA Synthesis

cDNA synthesis was performed using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-rad) according to the manufacturer's specifications. The entire procedure was completed on ice. Reaction tubes included 1 µl Reverse Transcriptase, 4 µl Reaction Mix and 500 ng of RNA in 20 µl reactions. Samples were then incubated in a thermal cycler (Thermo Electron Corporation, Waltham,MA) undergoing the following steps: priming for 5 minutes at 25°C, reverse transcription for 20 minutes at 46°C, reverse transcription inactivation for 1 minute at 95°C and a hold step at 4°C. The final cDNA products were stored at -20°C for later use.

3. Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Real-time PCR was performed to detect the relative gene expression of *Diptericin* which is the downstream product of the IMD pathway. *Ribosomal protein L 11 (RPL 11)* was used as a housekeeping gene. Forward and reverse primers (Macrogen, Seoul, South Korea) used are indicated in Table 2.

The PCR reactions consisted of 5 µl SYBR (Bio-Rad) green, 1µl of the reverse primer at a concentration of 10 pmol/uL, 1µl of the forward primer at a concentration of 10 pmol/uL and 300 ng of cDNA in a total volume of 10 µl per sample tube. Each sample was run in triplicates using the following cycles: initial activation step at 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 40 cycles consisting of 95°C for 15 seconds and 30 seconds at the annealing temperature according to each primer set used. Real time detection was performed using the Bio-Rad CFX96 Real Time System. Relative gene expression analysis was determined using the Livak method (134).

a. Statistical Analysis

To analyze statistical significance of relative expression values by real-time PCR the unpaired t-test was performed. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

A. Validating Fly Treatment Uptake

To examine the effect of EBV DNA on the *D. melanogaster* gut, flies were fed various regimens that included EBV DNA. To validate flies feed on such regimens, fluoresceinlabeled EBV DNA was added to either a sucrose or a DSS solution and then applied to a filter paper. Twenty wild type flies were used per feeding regimen and after a period of 48 hours of feeding on the filter paper, fluorescence in the abdominal and proboscis regions of the flies were observed (Figure 2). All flies that were fed EBV DNA or DSS with EBV DNA showed fluorescence hence confirming uptake of the EBV DNA even in the presence of DSS.

B. Number of *Hml-Gal4*, UAS-GFP Cells in Adult Male Fly Hindgut

To examine whether DSS and EBV DNA treatments affect the number of hemocytes in the fly gut, *Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP* (GFP-Hemolectin) fly line was used. Hemolectin marks hemocytes and is a protein involved in the clotting reaction (135). When observed with confocal microscopy (Figure 3), after 48 hours of feeding, all groups that had DSS included in their treatments showed a higher number of flies with \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells in their hindguts compared to those fed on sucrose (Table 3, Figure 4). Only 9% of analyzed flies feeding on sucrose had \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells in their hindguts. While the percent of flies with \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells in their hindguts was

26% in the group treated with DSS for 48 hours, it was 32% in the group treated with DSS and EBV DNA for 48 hours (p= 0.511). On the other hand, the percent of flies with \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells in their hindguts was 25% in the group of flies treated with DSS for 24 hours followed by sucrose for 24 hours, while it was 55% in the group treated with DSS for 24 hours followed by EBV DNA for 24 hours (p=0.003). This latter group had the highest proportion of flies with \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells in their hindguts. None of the flies that fed on EBV DNA alone for 48 hours showed any GFP-Hemolectin cells in their hindguts; compared to the control group which was fed on sucrose alone hence showing a significant decrease (p=0.023). The 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells was selected as a cutoff point since values below 20 were the most recurrently observed in the hindgut of flies feeding on sucrose only for 48 hours.

Since a previous report has indicated that the fly gut harbors hemolectin positive cells that are neuroendocrine rather than hemocytic (67), hindguts were immunostained with a P1 antibody, which recognizes the phagocytic NimC1 receptor expressed on cells with plasmatocytic characteristics (136) (Figure 5). Plasmatocytes comprise 95% of the hemocyte population in flies (68). We observed a co-localization between GFP-Hemolectin and P1 in the gut of flies feeding on DSS then EBV as a representative sample, hence indicating that these cells are plasmatocytic in nature.

C. Number of GFP Positive Cells in Adult Male Fly Bleed

After 48 hours of feeding on the various feeding regimens described above, the number of circulating GFP/Hemolectin positive hemocytes were assessed systemically by collecting

and analyzing the adult fly hemolymph. No significant changes were observed between the different groups (Figure 6) indicating that the feeding regimens employed likely did not induce changes at the systemic level within the timeframe assessed.

D. Intestinal Stem Cell Regeneration in Adult Male Fly Midguts

We further analyzed our phenotype by assessing the regeneration of intestinal stem cells (ISCs) in the midgut of adult male flies subjected to different treatments; the midgut was examined since it is the only gut region with known markers for ISCs (117).Previous reports have indicated that DSS of a high molecular weight, as employed in our experiments, does not induce stem cell regeneration (86). To assess whether inclusion of EBV DNA treatment would affect this, *esg-Gal4, UAS-GFP* (Esg-GFP) flies were used. Escargot (Esg) is a zinc-finger transcription factor expressed in ISCs and enteroblasts of the midgut that also plays a role in maintaining cell identity(117). Laser scanning confocal images of guts from different treatments revealed no significant changes in endogenous GFP expression (Figure 7). This was further confirmed upon quantifying the mean fluorescence intensity in ISCs in different groups, whereby no significant changes were documented (Figure 8).

E. Relative Gene Expression Levels of Diptericin

We had previously demonstrated that injecting flies with EBV DNA results in enhanced expression of *Diptericin* as an indicator of the IMD immune pathway (16). To assess whether our DSS and EBV feeding treatments similarly affected the expression of *Diptericin*, the relative gene expression of this mediator was assessed in the gut of adult

male flies subjected to the different treatments by real time PCR. A significant 3-fold increase in *Diptericin* expression levels was observed in the guts of flies feeding on DSS then EBV DNA compared to its expression levels in the control gut of flies feeding on DSS then sucrose (p=0.043) (Figure 9). However, no significant increase in *Diptericin* expression levels was documented in other assessed groups.



Figure 1: Feeding regimens protocol. Three-day old male flies were fed on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV DNA for 48 hours as indicated.



Figure 2: Three day old w^{1118} males fed on different regimens of DSS and/or fluorescein-labelled EBV DNA for 48 hours. (A) w^{1118} fly fed on sucrose (used as vehicle in the other treatments) for 48 hours. (B) w^{1118} fly fed on fluorescein-labelled EBV DNA for 48 hours. (C) w^{1118} fly fed on DSS and fluorescein-labelled EBV DNA for 48 hours.



Figure 3: Hindguts of *Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP* flies fed on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV DNA. (A) Flies fed on sucrose (used as vehicle in the other treatments) for 48 hours. (B) Flies fed on EBV DNA for 48 hours. (C) Flies fed on DSS for 48 hours. (D) Flies fed on DSS and EBV DNA for 48 hours. (E) Flies fed on DSS for 24 hours then sucrose for 24 hours. (F) Flies fed on DSS for 24 hours then EBV DNA for 24 hours. (A'-F') 2X enlargement of area indicated by a box insert denoting gut ilia in A-F respectively. GFP-Hemolectin is in green; DAPI is in blue.



Figure 4: Percent of fly hindguts with GFP-Hemolectin positive cells after feeding on different treatments of DSS and/or EBV. Sucrose was used as vehicle. *p-value<0.05. **p-value<0.01.



Figure 5: Hindguts of *Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP* flies after feeding on DSS for 24 hours then EBV DNA for 24 hours. (A) DAPI. (B) GFP. (C) P1. (D) Merged DAPI, GFP and P1 images.



Figure 6: Flow cytometry conducted on *Hml-Gal4, UAS-GFP* hemolymph of adult male flies fed on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV DNA. (A-F) Plot01 represents the forward scatter (X-axis) against the side scatter (Y-axis) which is indicative of size and granularity, respectively. Plot02 represents the forward scatter (Y-axis) against the GFP fluorescence (Y-axis) of the cells. Plot03 represents the GFP intensity of the cells. (A) Flies fed on sucrose (used as vehicle in the other treatments) for 48 hours. (B) Flies fed on EBV DNA for 48 hours. (C) Flies fed on DSS for 48 hours. (D) Flies fed on DSS and EBV DNA for 48 hours. (E) Flies fed on DSS for 24 hours then sucrose for 24 hours. (F) Flies fed on DSS for 24 hours then EBV DNA for 24 hours. (G) Percent of GFP/Hemolectin positive cells in the hemolymph of flies described in A-F.



Figure 7: Midguts of *esg-Gal4*, *UAS-GFP*/+ flies fed on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV DNA. (A) Flies fed on sucrose (used as vehicle in the other treatments) for 48 hours. (B) Flies fed on EBV DNA for 48 hours. (C) Flies fed on DSS for 48 hours. (D) Flies fed on DSS and EBV DNA for 48 hours. (E) Flies fed on DSS for 24 hours then sucrose for 24 hours. (F) Flies fed on DSS for 24 hours then EBV DNA for 24 hours. Hemolectin/GFP is in green; DAPI is in blue.



Figure 8: Mean fluorescence intensity of intestinal stem cells (ISCs) and enteroblasts in the midgut of flies after feeding on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV DNA. Sucrose was used as a vehicle. *p-value<0.05



Diptericin

Figure 9: Relative gene expression levels of *Diptericin* in guts from flies fed on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV DNA. Sucrose was used as vehicle. *p-value<0.05.

Table 1: Fly feeding regimens.

	Groups	1	2	3	4	5	6
	Treatments	Sucrose	EBV DNA	DSS	DSS + EBV DNA	DSS then Sucrose	DSS then EBV DNA
	24 hours	500 µl of 5% Sucrose	500 μl of 5% Sucrose + 288,000	500 μl of 5% DSS	500 μl of 5% DSS +288,000 copies of EBV DNA	500 μl of 5% DSS	500 μl of 5% DSS
ours			EBV DNA		EDV DNA		
48 hc	24 hours	500 µl of 5% Sucrose	500 μl of 5% Sucrose + 288,000 copies of EBV DNA	500 μl of 5% DSS	500 µl of 5% DSS +288,000 copies of EBV DNA	500 µ1 of 5% Sucrose	500 µl of 5% Sucrose + 288,000 copies of EBV DNA

Gene	Direction	Sequence		Ref.
RPL 11	Forward	5'-CGATCCCTCCATCGGTATCT-3'	57°C	(137)
RPL 11	Reverse	5'-AACCACTTCATGGCATCCTC-3'	57°C	(137)
Diptericin	Forward	5'- CCGCAGTACCCACTCAATCT -3'	57°C	NCBI primer
				designing tool
Diptericin	Reverse	5'- ACTGCAAAGCCAAAACCATC-3'	57°C	NCBI primer
				designing tool
*Annealing	Temperature	e (AT)		

 Table 2: Sequences and annealing temperatures for *RPL11* and *Diptericin* primers.

Table 3: Percent of fly hindguts with \geq 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells after feeding on different regimens of DSS and/or EBV.

Treatments	Percent Hindguts with ≥ 20 GFP-Hemolectin positive cells	p-value*		
Sucrose	9%	-		
EBV DNA	0	0.023		
DSS	26%	0.018		
DSS+EBV DNA	32%	0.003		
DSS then Sucrose	25%	0.030		
DSS then EBV DNA	55%	2.706E-07		
*Compared to the sucrose-fed group				

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

EBV is a prevalent virus that has been associated with different diseases including gastric cancer and inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs), such as Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, conditions that have the colon inflamed over a long period of time (42, 44-46). A significant correlation between IBD and EBV has been shown. Minimal amounts of EBV have been detected in normal gastric tissues but the virus has been highly detectable in gastric lesions from Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis tissues. One study presented possible perpetuation of inflammation in ulcerative colitis patients due to the active replication of the virus detected in the inflammatory lesions (48). Further research is required to explore the definite role of EBV in IBD. Intriguingly, innate immune responses secondary to EBV DNA have been shown. Our group has previously reported immune stimulation in response to EBV DNA in various models. In mice, pro-inflammatory cytokines were triggered via the involvement of Toll-like receptors (13-15, 138). In D. melanogaster, EBV DNA was capable of triggering the activation of the IMD pathway systemically as well as increasing hemocyte levels in the fly hemolymph (16). The fruit fly served as a model to fulfill our aim: assessing the effect of EBV DNA on inflammatory responses in the fly gut by examining markers of the cellular immune response and regeneration, as well as the humoral immune response. The ultimate objective is establishing the fly as a model system to examine the role EBV DNA plays in inflammatory bowel conditions.

Inflammation was established in *D. melanogaster* through the administration of DSS, a sulfated polysaccharide that causes human ulcerative colitis- like pathologies due to its toxicity to intestinal cells (139).

Upon assessing local cellular stimulation in response to different treatments in hml-GAL4, UAS-GFP, enhanced levels of GFP-expressing Hemolectin-positive cells were observed in the hindguts of flies administered DSS compared to controls. Administration of EBV DNA to the DSS-fed flies further increased the levels of the Hemolectin-positive cells in fly hindguts. Moreover, the time EBV DNA was administered while feeding on DSS resulted in different outcomes. Feeding DSS on the first day then EBV DNA on the next showed further enhanced Hemolectin positive cell accumulation in the hindgut in comparison to flies feeding on DSS and EBV DNA at the same time. Hence, possibly, establishing inflammation and then allowing the entry of EBV DNA into a damaged gut resulted in a further aggravated cellular response. Conversely, feeding on EBV DNA alone without causing damage to the gut through the administration of DSS led to a decrease in the Hemolectin-positive cells in the hindgut in comparison to flies feeding on sucrose only. It is possible that hindgut injury that may have been caused by DSS allowed EBV DNA access to certain cells that in turn allowed activation of particular pathways that led to an increase in the number of Hemolectin-positive cells; on the other hand, in the absence of possible abrasions caused by DSS, other cell types with a potential suppressive effect may have been triggered by the DNA.

Specifically, the region with a notable cellular response in the gut was the ileum in the hindgut. The innate immune cells of the *D. melanogaster* gut, including those of the

hindgut, have not been well characterized. The ileum is known to consist of polyploid absorptive enterocytes that are quiescent and divide only upon immune challenge (128).

Since Hemolectin positive cells observed accumulating in the hindgut may be endocrine (67, 140) confirming the nature of these GFP-Hemolectin positive cells was of high importance. Upon assessing the nature of these cells through immunofluorescent staining, we were able to confirm that they are plasmatocytes. While fly hindguts have been previously reported to harbor hemocyte-like cells (129), to the best of our knowledge, this is the first report to indicate that these cells are plasmatocytes. On the other hand, the localization of hemocytes in the midgut region of the gut of *D. melanogaster* has been previously reported (67). Hemocytes have been shown to aid in immune responses in the midgut by either taking part in the phagocytosis of pathogens or controlling intestinal stem cell regeneration (67, 109). Hence, possible similar immune contributions may be resulting in the hindgut of the adult flies upon inducing inflammation.

To assess the effect of EBV DNA on systemic cellular components, hemocytes from the adult fly hemolymph were counted after feeding on various treatments for two days. No significant changes in the number of hemocytes were observed and this could be due to a localized damage induced in the gut by DSS and EBV DNA that does not result in systemic changes.

Although it has been previously reported that DSS with a high molecular weight, as employed in our studies, does not show an effect on the regeneration process in the fly midgut, we examined whether inclusion of EBV DNA is capable of triggering regenerational changes (86). Upon assessing the fluorescent intensity of intestinal stem

cells in the midgut, which is indicative of increased division of stem cells, we did not observe any remarkable indication of regeneration. Differences in regeneration and immune responses between midgut and hindgut cells have been reported (128, 129). In a fly oncogenic model, midgut cells were shown to respond to virulent *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection by regenerating with a fast turn-over independent of the fly innate immune pathways (129). On the other hand, an avirulent P. aeruginosa strain tested did not induce this turn-over; similarly, not all types of DSS induce midgut inflammation and damage resulting in regeneration (86). On the other hand, in flies with Ras-activated hindgut cells, a very low proliferation of ISCs located in an anterior zone in response to immune challenges or damage was observed, but hindgut cells were capable of dissemination, invasion and accumulation in different loci completely under the control of the fly innate immunity (129, 130). Most importantly, both virulent and avirulent bacterial strains that did not cause any alterations in midgut regeneration were capable of inducing dissemination of cells originating from the fly hindgut (129). While these observations were made in a fly cancer model and may not necessarily apply to non-cancer flies, they may indicate differences in immune and regenerational responses between the midgut and the hindgut. This may explain why DSS with a high molecular weight resulted in notable observations in the hindgut in our model, but not in the midgut. Hence, our findings highlight possible differences between responses in the midgut and those in the hindgut.

Regeneration in the hindgut was not examined in our study due to the uncertainty of the presence of ISCs in the hindgut and the lack of specific markers for them (122, 127, 128). Alternatively, general proliferation observations through BrdU labelling and

enhanced mitosis assessment via examining phosphohistone levels (141) may be possible routes of deciphering whether regeneration is triggered in the hindgut in our model. This will be determined in future studies.

Upon assessing the humoral response in the gut of flies feeding on DSS then EBV DNA, we observed that the transcriptional level of *Diptericin* was increased by 3 folds in comparison to flies feeding on DSS then sucrose. These results correlate with our previous studies showing the activation of the IMD pathway systemically in response to EBV DNA (16). Studies have shown the role of the IMD pathway in defense against gut bacterial infections (111, 142). Moreover, studies have demonstrated that the IMD pathway is activated in response to accumulation of chromosomal DNA in flies (143). A previous study suggested that the IMD pathway in *D. melanogaster* larvae induces JNK-dependent PVR ligands such as PVF2 and PVF3 which in turn induce the proliferation of hemocytes (144). Hence, the IMD pathway could be acting upstream of the JNK pathway and inducing hindgut cell responses and plasmatocytic localization/proliferation in the ileum in response to EBV DNA. The involvement of the JNK pathway, along with other innate immune pathways, in our model may be of relevance and could be examined in future studies.

The limitations of our study include the lack of determining the exact amounts of EBV DNA consumed. Hence, these consumed amounts cannot be correlated to the amount of EBV DNA present in human gut tissues in infected subjects. Since EBV stimulates adaptive immune responses in humans, the lack of adaptive immunity in the *D*. *melanogaster* may pose a potential limitation since these cannot be tested in the fly model.

In conclusion, our results suggest that oral administration of EBV DNA stimulates the proliferation or accumulation of plasmatocytes and the activation of the IMD pathway in the hindgut of *D.melanogaster*. The IMD pathway is comparable to the Tumour Necrosis Factor- α Receptor signaling (TNFR) in mammals. Hence, assessing whether the TNFR pathway and macrophages are stimulated by EBV DNA in mammalian gastric studies can be investigated; such studies may highlight mediators that can serve as potential therapeutic targets to alleviate the inflammatory effects of EBV DNA in IBDs.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Mackie PL. The classification of viruses infecting the respiratory tract. Paediatric respiratory reviews. 2003;4(2):84-90.

2. Grinde B. Herpesviruses: latency and reactivation - viral strategies and host response. Journal of oral microbiology. 2013;5.

3. Thorley-Lawson DA, Gross A. Persistence of the Epstein-Barr virus and the origins of associated lymphomas. The New England journal of medicine. 2004;350(13):1328-37.

4. MacLennan IC. Germinal centers. Annual review of immunology. 1994;12:117-39.

5. Liu YJ, Arpin C. Germinal center development. Immunological reviews. 1997;156:111-26.

6. Germi R, Effantin G, Grossi L, Ruigrok RW, Morand P, Schoehn G. Threedimensional structure of the Epstein-Barr virus capsid. The Journal of general virology. 2012;93(Pt 8):1769-73.

7. Johannsen E, Luftig M, Chase MR, Weicksel S, Cahir-McFarland E, Illanes D, et al. Proteins of purified Epstein-Barr virus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2004;101(46):16286-91.

8. Hutt-Fletcher LM, Lake CM. Two Epstein-Barr virus glycoprotein complexes. Current topics in microbiology and immunology. 2001;258:51-64.

9. Haan KM, Lee SK, Longnecker R. Different functional domains in the cytoplasmic tail of glycoprotein B are involved in Epstein-Barr virus-induced membrane fusion. Virology. 2001;290(1):106-14.

10. Henson BW, Perkins EM, Cothran JE, Desai P. Self-assembly of Epstein-Barr virus capsids. Journal of virology. 2009;83(8):3877-90.

11. Young LS, Rickinson AB. Epstein-Barr virus: 40 years on. Nature reviews Cancer. 2004;4(10):757-68.

12. Young LS, Arrand JR, Murray PG. EBV gene expression and regulation. Human herpesviruses: Biology, therapy, and immunoprophylaxis: Cambridge University Press; 2007.

13. Fiola S, Gosselin D, Takada K, Gosselin J. TLR9 contributes to the recognition of EBV by primary monocytes and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2010;185(6):3620-31.

14. Rahal EA, Hajjar H, Rajeh M, Yamout B, Abdelnoor AM. Epstein-Barr Virus and Human herpes virus 6 Type A DNA Enhance IL-17 Production in Mice. Viral immunology. 2015;28(5):297-302.

15. Draborg AH, Duus K, Houen G. Epstein-Barr virus in systemic autoimmune diseases. Clinical & developmental immunology. 2013;2013:535738.

16. Sherri N, Salloum N, Mouawad C, Haidar-Ahmad N, Shirinian M, Rahal EA. Epstein-Barr Virus DNA Enhances Diptericin Expression and Increases Hemocyte Numbers in Drosophila melanogaster via the Immune Deficiency Pathway. Frontiers in microbiology. 2018;9:1268.

17. Farrell PJ. Epstein-Barr Virus Strain Variation. Current topics in microbiology and immunology. 2015;390(Pt 1):45-69.

18. Sample J, Young L, Martin B, Chatman T, Kieff E, Rickinson A, et al. Epstein-Barr virus types 1 and 2 differ in their EBNA-3A, EBNA-3B, and EBNA-3C genes. Journal of virology. 1990;64(9):4084-92.

19. Palser AL, Grayson NE, White RE, Corton C, Correia S, Ba Abdullah MM, et al. Genome diversity of Epstein-Barr virus from multiple tumor types and normal infection. Journal of virology. 2015;89(10):5222-37.

20. Neves M, Marinho-Dias J, Ribeiro J, Sousa H. Epstein-Barr virus strains and variations: Geographic or disease-specific variants? Journal of medical virology. 2017;89(3):373-87.

21. Midgley RS, Bell AI, Yao QY, Croom-Carter D, Hislop AD, Whitney BM, et al. HLA-A11-restricted epitope polymorphism among Epstein-Barr virus strains in the highly HLA-A11-positive Chinese population: incidence and immunogenicity of variant epitope sequences. Journal of virology. 2003;77(21):11507-16.

22. Hjalgrim H, Friborg J, Melbye M. The epidemiology of EBV and its association with malignant disease. In: Arvin A, Campadelli-Fiume G, Mocarski E, Moore PS, Roizman B, Whitley R, et al., editors. Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Copyright (c) Cambridge University Press 2007.; 2007.

23. Scheenstra R, Verschuuren EA, de Haan A, Slooff MJ, The TH, Bijleveld CM, et al. The value of prospective monitoring of Epstein-Barr virus DNA in blood samples of

pediatric liver transplant recipients. Transplant infectious disease : an official journal of the Transplantation Society. 2004;6(1):15-22.

24. Alfieri C, Tanner J, Carpentier L, Perpete C, Savoie A, Paradis K, et al. Epstein-Barr virus transmission from a blood donor to an organ transplant recipient with recovery of the same virus strain from the recipient's blood and oropharynx. Blood. 1996;87(2):812-7.

25. Enbom M, Strand A, Falk KI, Linde A. Detection of Epstein-Barr virus, but not human herpesvirus 8, DNA in cervical secretions from Swedish women by real-time polymerase chain reaction. Sexually transmitted diseases. 2001;28(5):300-6.

26. Israele V, Shirley P, Sixbey JW. Excretion of the Epstein-Barr virus from the genital tract of men. The Journal of infectious diseases. 1991;163(6):1341-3.

27. Kapranos N, Petrakou E, Anastasiadou C, Kotronias D. Detection of herpes simplex virus, cytomegalovirus, and Epstein-Barr virus in the semen of men attending an infertility clinic. Fertility and sterility. 2003;79 Suppl 3:1566-70.

28. Naher H, Gissmann L, Freese UK, Petzoldt D, Helfrich S. Subclinical Epstein-Barr virus infection of both the male and female genital tract--indication for sexual transmission. The Journal of investigative dermatology. 1992;98(5):791-3.

29. Fleisher G, Bologonese R. Infectious mononucleosis during gestation: report of three women and their infants studied prospectively. Pediatric infectious disease. 1984;3(4):308-11.

30. Kusuhara K, Takabayashi A, Ueda K, Hidaka Y, Minamishima I, Take H, et al. Breast milk is not a significant source for early Epstein-Barr virus or human herpesvirus 6 infection in infants: a seroepidemiologic study in 2 endemic areas of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I in Japan. Microbiology and immunology. 1997;41(4):309-12.

31. Meyohas MC, Marechal V, Desire N, Bouillie J, Frottier J, Nicolas JC. Study of mother-to-child Epstein-Barr virus transmission by means of nested PCRs. Journal of virology. 1996;70(10):6816-9.

32. Svedmyr E, Ernberg I, Seeley J, Weiland O, Masucci G, Tsukuda K, et al. Virologic, immunologic, and clinical observations on a patient during the incubation, acute, and convalescent phases of infectious mononucleosis. Clinical immunology and immunopathology. 1984;30(3):437-50.

33. Stanfield BA, Luftig MA. Recent advances in understanding Epstein-Barr virus. F1000Research. 2017;6:386.

34. Kalla M, Schmeinck A, Bergbauer M, Pich D, Hammerschmidt W. AP-1 homolog BZLF1 of Epstein-Barr virus has two essential functions dependent on the epigenetic state of the viral genome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010;107(2):850-5.

35. Timens W, Boes A, Vos H, Poppema S. Tissue distribution of the C3d/EBVreceptor: CD21 monoclonal antibodies reactive with a variety of epithelial cells, medullary thymocytes, and peripheral T-cells. Histochemistry. 1991;95(6):605-11.

36. Gequelin LC, Riediger IN, Nakatani SM, Biondo AW, Bonfim CM. Epstein-Barr virus: general factors, virus-related diseases and measurement of viral load after transplant. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter. 2011;33(5):383-8.

37. Epstein MA, Achong BG, Barr YM. VIRUS PARTICLES IN CULTURED LYMPHOBLASTS FROM BURKITT'S LYMPHOMA. Lancet (London, England). 1964;1(7335):702-3.

38. Spacek M, Hubacek P, Markova J, Zajac M, Vernerova Z, Kamaradova K, et al. Plasma EBV-DNA monitoring in Epstein-Barr virus-positive Hodgkin lymphoma patients. APMIS : acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica. 2011;119(1):10-6.

39. Gulley ML, Tang W. Laboratory assays for Epstein-Barr virus-related disease. The Journal of molecular diagnostics : JMD. 2008;10(4):279-92.

40. Styczynski J, Reusser P, Einsele H, de la Camara R, Cordonnier C, Ward KN, et al. Management of HSV, VZV and EBV infections in patients with hematological malignancies and after SCT: guidelines from the Second European Conference on Infections in Leukemia. Bone marrow transplantation. 2009;43(10):757-70.

41. Wolf H, zur Hausen H, Becker V. EB viral genomes in epithelial nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Nature: New biology. 1973;244(138):245-7.

42. Fukayama M, Hayashi Y, Iwasaki Y, Chong J, Ooba T, Takizawa T, et al. Epstein-Barr virus-associated gastric carcinoma and Epstein-Barr virus infection of the stomach. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 1994;71(1):73-81.

43. Cho J, Kang MS, Kim KM. Epstein-Barr Virus-Associated Gastric Carcinoma and Specific Features of the Accompanying Immune Response. Journal of gastric cancer. 2016;16(1):1-7.

44. Nakamura S, Ueki T, Yao T, Ueyama T, Tsuneyoshi M. Epstein-Barr virus in gastric carcinoma with lymphoid stroma. Special reference to its detection by the polymerase chain reaction and in situ hybridization in 99 tumors, including a morphologic analysis. Cancer. 1994;73(9):2239-49.

45. Shousha S, Luqmani YA. Epstein-Barr virus in gastric carcinoma and adjacent normal gastric and duodenal mucosa. Journal of clinical pathology. 1994;47(8):695-8.

46. Yanai H, Takada K, Shimizu N, Mizugaki Y, Tada M, Okita K. Epstein-Barr virus infection in non-carcinomatous gastric epithelium. The Journal of pathology. 1997;183(3):293-8.

47. Salloum N, Hussein HM, Jammaz R, Jiche S, Uthman IW, Abdelnoor AM, et al. Epstein-Barr virus DNA modulates regulatory T-cell programming in addition to enhancing interleukin-17A production via Toll-like receptor 9. PloS one. 2018;13(7):e0200546.

48. Ryan JL, Shen YJ, Morgan DR, Thorne LB, Kenney SC, Dominguez RL, et al. Epstein-Barr virus infection is common in inflamed gastrointestinal mucosa. Digestive diseases and sciences. 2012;57(7):1887-98.

49. Kimura H, Morishima T, Kanegane H, Ohga S, Hoshino Y, Maeda A, et al. Prognostic factors for chronic active Epstein-Barr virus infection. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2003;187(4):527-33.

50. Wakefield A, Fox J, Sawyerr A, Taylor J, Sweenie C, Smith M, et al. Detection of herpesvirus DNA in the large intestine of patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease using the nested polymerase chain reaction. Journal of medical virology. 1992;38(3):183-90.

51. Spieker T, Herbst H. Distribution and phenotype of Epstein-Barr virus-infected cells in inflammatory bowel disease. The American journal of pathology. 2000;157(1):51-7.

52. Takeda Y, Takada K, Togashi H, Takeda H, Sakano M, Takeda Y, et al. Demonstration of Epstein-Barr virus localized in the colonic and ileal mucosa of a patient with ulcerative colitis. Gastrointestinal endoscopy. 2000;51(2):205-9.

53. Kitayama Y, Honda S, Sugimura H. Epstein-Barr virus–related gastric pseudolymphoma in infectious mononucleosis. Gastrointestinal endoscopy. 2000;52(2):290-1.

54. Hisamatsu A, Nagai T, Okawara H, Nakashima H, Tasaki T, Nakagawa Y, et al. Gastritis associated with Epstein-Barr virus infection. Internal Medicine. 2010;49(19):2101-5.

55. Zhang Y, Molot R. Severe gastritis secondary to Epstein-Barr viral infection: unusual presentation of infectious mononucleosis and associated diffuse lymphoid hyperplasia in gastric mucosa. Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine. 2003;127(4):478-80.

56. Zong-ming EC, Shah R, Zuckerman GR, Wang HL. Epstein-Barr virus gastritis: an underrecognized form of severe gastritis simulating gastric lymphoma. The American journal of surgical pathology. 2007;31(9):1446-51.

57. Alfieri C, Ghibu F, Joncas J. Lytic, nontransforming Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) from a patient with chronic active EBV infection. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1984;131(10):1249.

58. Norris D, Stone J. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Geneva: WHO. 2008:22-3.

59. Cohen JI, Jaffe ES, Dale JK, Pittaluga S, Heslop HE, Rooney CM, et al. Characterization and treatment of chronic active Epstein-Barr virus disease: a 28-year experience in the United States. Blood. 2011;117(22):5835-49.

60. Cárdenas-Mondragón MG, Carreón-Talavera R, Camorlinga-Ponce M, Gomez-Delgado A, Torres J, Fuentes-Panana EM. Epstein Barr virus and Helicobacter pylori coinfection are positively associated with severe gastritis in pediatric patients. PloS one. 2013;8(4):e62850.

61. Govind S. Innate immunity in Drosophila: Pathogens and pathways. Insect science. 2008;15(1):29-43.

62. Ding SW, Voinnet O. Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. Cell. 2007;130(3):413-26.

63. Hultmark D. Drosophila immunity: paths and patterns. Current opinion in immunology. 2003;15(1):12-9.

64. Hoffmann JA. The immune response of Drosophila. Nature. 2003;426(6962):33-8.

65. Brennan CA, Anderson KV. Drosophila: the genetics of innate immune recognition and response. Annual review of immunology. 2004;22:457-83.

66. Imler JL, Bulet P. Antimicrobial peptides in Drosophila: structures, activities and gene regulation. Chemical immunology and allergy. 2005;86:1-21.

67. Zaidman-Remy A, Regan JC, Brandao AS, Jacinto A. The Drosophila larva as a tool to study gut-associated macrophages: PI3K regulates a discrete hemocyte population at the proventriculus. Developmental and comparative immunology. 2012;36(4):638-47.

68. Wood W, Jacinto A. Drosophila melanogaster embryonic haemocytes: masters of multitasking. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2007;8(7):542-51.

69. Garrett WS, Gordon JI, Glimcher LH. Homeostasis and inflammation in the intestine. Cell. 2010;140(6):859-70.

70. Ammeux N, Housden BE, Georgiadis A, Hu Y, Perrimon N. Mapping signaling pathway cross-talk in Drosophila cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2016;113(35):9940-5.

71. Hetru C, Hoffmann JA. NF-kappaB in the immune response of Drosophila. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2009;1(6):a000232.

72. Valanne S, Wang JH, Ramet M. The Drosophila Toll signaling pathway. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2011;186(2):649-56.

73. Bilak H, Tauszig-Delamasure S, Imler JL. Toll and Toll-like receptors in Drosophila. Biochemical Society transactions. 2003;31(Pt 3):648-51.

74. Kim T, Kim YJ. Overview of innate immunity in Drosophila. Journal of biochemistry and molecular biology. 2005;38(2):121-7.

75. Belvin MP, Anderson KV. A conserved signaling pathway: the Drosophila tolldorsal pathway. Annual review of cell and developmental biology. 1996;12:393-416.

76. Kimbrell DA, Beutler B. The evolution and genetics of innate immunity. Nature reviews Genetics. 2001;2(4):256-67.

77. Qiu P, Pan PC, Govind S. A role for the Drosophila Toll/Cactus pathway in larval hematopoiesis. Development (Cambridge, England). 1998;125(10):1909-20.

78. Xu J, Cherry S. Viruses and antiviral immunity in Drosophila. Developmental and comparative immunology. 2014;42(1):67-84.

79. Lemaitre B, Nicolas E, Michaut L, Reichhart JM, Hoffmann JA. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell. 1996;86(6):973-83.

80. Shia AK, Glittenberg M, Thompson G, Weber AN, Reichhart JM, Ligoxygakis P. Toll-dependent antimicrobial responses in Drosophila larval fat body require Spatzle secreted by haemocytes. Journal of cell science. 2009;122(Pt 24):4505-15.

81. Costa A, Jan E, Sarnow P, Schneider D. The Imd pathway is involved in antiviral immune responses in Drosophila. PloS one. 2009;4(10):e7436.

82. Lemaitre B, Kromer-Metzger E, Michaut L, Nicolas E, Meister M, Georgel P, et al. A recessive mutation, immune deficiency (imd), defines two distinct control pathways in

the Drosophila host defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1995;92(21):9465-9.

83. Tzelepis I, Kapsetaki SE, Panayidou S, Apidianakis Y. Drosophila melanogaster: a first step and a stepping-stone to anti-infectives. Current opinion in pharmacology. 2013;13(5):763-8.

84. Binari R, Perrimon N. Stripe-specific regulation of pair-rule genes by hopscotch, a putative Jak family tyrosine kinase in Drosophila. Genes & development. 1994;8(3):300-12.

85. Barton GM, Medzhitov R. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Science. 2003;300(5625):1524-5.

86. Amcheslavsky A, Jiang J, Ip YT. Tissue damage-induced intestinal stem cell division in Drosophila. Cell stem cell. 2009;4(1):49-61.

87. Apidianakis Y, Rahme LG. Drosophila melanogaster as a model for human intestinal infection and pathology. Disease models & mechanisms. 2011;4(1):21-30.

88. Demerec M. Biology of drosophila. Wiley New York; 1950.

89. Thompson DG, Malagelada JR. Guts and their motions (gastrointestinal motility in health and disease). Journal of clinical gastroenterology. 1981;3 Suppl 1:81-7.

90. Edgecomb RS, Harth CE, Schneiderman AM. Regulation of feeding behavior in adult Drosophila melanogaster varies with feeding regime and nutritional state. The Journal of experimental biology. 1994;197:215-35.

91. Kedinger M, Simon-Assmann P, Haffen K. Growth and differentiation of intestinal endodermal cells in a coculture system. Gut. 1987;28(Suppl):237-41.

92. Tepass U, Hartenstein V. Epithelium formation in the Drosophila midgut depends on the interaction of endoderm and mesoderm. Development (Cambridge, England). 1994;120(3):579-90.

93. Shanbhag S, Tripathi S. Epithelial ultrastructure and cellular mechanisms of acid and base transport in the Drosophila midgut. The Journal of experimental biology. 2009;212(Pt 11):1731-44.

94. Baumann O. Posterior midgut epithelial cells differ in their organization of the membrane skeleton from other drosophila epithelia. Experimental cell research. 2001;270(2):176-87.

95. Gartner LP. Submicroscopic morphology of the adult drosophila midgut. Journal of the Baltimore College of Dental Surgery. 1970;25(2):64-76.

96. Gooday GW. Aggressive and defensive roles for chitinases. Exs. 1999;87:157-69.

97. Vodovar N, Vinals M, Liehl P, Basset A, Degrouard J, Spellman P, et al. Drosophila host defense after oral infection by an entomopathogenic Pseudomonas species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2005;102(32):11414-9.

98. Abdul-Muneer PM, Pfister BJ, Haorah J, Chandra N. Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases in the Pathogenesis of Traumatic Brain Injury. Molecular neurobiology. 2016;53(9):6106-23.

99. Jiang H, Edgar BA. EGFR signaling regulates the proliferation of Drosophila adult midgut progenitors. Development (Cambridge, England). 2009;136(3):483-93.

100. Kvietys PR, Granger DN. Physiology and pathophysiology of the colonic circulation. Clinics in gastroenterology. 1986;15(4):967-83.

101. Rhee SH, Pothoulakis C, Mayer EA. Principles and clinical implications of the brain-gut-enteric microbiota axis. Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology. 2009;6(5):306-14.

102. Crosnier C, Stamataki D, Lewis J. Organizing cell renewal in the intestine: stem cells, signals and combinatorial control. Nature reviews Genetics. 2006;7(5):349-59.

103. Komuro T, Hashimoto Y. Three-dimensional structure of the rat intestinal wall (mucosa and submucosa). Archives of histology and cytology. 1990;53(1):1-21.

104. Lehane MJ. Peritrophic matrix structure and function. Annual review of entomology. 1997;42:525-50.

105. Hegedus D, Erlandson M, Gillott C, Toprak U. New insights into peritrophic matrix synthesis, architecture, and function. Annual review of entomology. 2009;54:285-302.

106. Shibata T, Sekihara S, Fujikawa T, Miyaji R, Maki K, Ishihara T, et al. Transglutaminase-catalyzed protein-protein cross-linking suppresses the activity of the NFkappaB-like transcription factor relish. Science signaling. 2013;6(285):ra61.

107. Kuraishi T, Binggeli O, Opota O, Buchon N, Lemaitre B. Genetic evidence for a protective role of the peritrophic matrix against intestinal bacterial infection in Drosophila melanogaster. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011;108(38):15966-71.

108. Ha EM, Oh CT, Bae YS, Lee WJ. A direct role for dual oxidase in Drosophila gut immunity. Science. 2005;310(5749):847-50.

109. Lee KA, Kim B, Bhin J, Kim DH, You H, Kim EK, et al. Bacterial uracil modulates Drosophila DUOX-dependent gut immunity via Hedgehog-induced signaling endosomes. Cell host & microbe. 2015;17(2):191-204.

110. Kuraishi T, Hori A, Kurata S. Host-microbe interactions in the gut of Drosophila melanogaster. Frontiers in physiology. 2013;4:375.

111. Lemaitre B, Hoffmann J. The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. Annual review of immunology. 2007;25:697-743.

112. Buchon N, Broderick NA, Poidevin M, Pradervand S, Lemaitre B. Drosophila intestinal response to bacterial infection: activation of host defense and stem cell proliferation. Cell host & microbe. 2009;5(2):200-11.

113. Ayyaz A, Li H, Jasper H. Haemocytes control stem cell activity in the Drosophila intestine. Nature cell biology. 2015;17(6):736-48.

114. Skoczek DA, Walczysko P, Horn N, Parris A, Clare S, Williams MR, et al. Luminal microbes promote monocyte-stem cell interactions across a healthy colonic epithelium. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2014;193(1):439-51.

115. Pull SL, Doherty JM, Mills JC, Gordon JI, Stappenbeck TS. Activated macrophages are an adaptive element of the colonic epithelial progenitor niche necessary for regenerative responses to injury. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2005;102(1):99-104.

116. Malvin NP, Seno H, Stappenbeck TS. Colonic epithelial response to injury requires Myd88 signaling in myeloid cells. Mucosal immunology. 2012;5(2):194-206.

117. Micchelli CA, Perrimon N. Evidence that stem cells reside in the adult Drosophila midgut epithelium. Nature. 2006;439(7075):475-9.

118. Barker N, van de Wetering M, Clevers H. The intestinal stem cell. Genes & development. 2008;22(14):1856-64.

119. Ohlstein B, Spradling A. The adult Drosophila posterior midgut is maintained by pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 2006;439(7075):470-4.

120. Rangel-Huerta E, Maldonado E. Transit-Amplifying Cells in the Fast Lane from Stem Cells towards Differentiation. Stem cells international. 2017;2017:7602951.

121. Scoville DH, Sato T, He XC, Li L. Current view: intestinal stem cells and signaling. Gastroenterology. 2008;134(3):849-64.

122. Takashima S, Mkrtchyan M, Younossi-Hartenstein A, Merriam JR, Hartenstein V. The behaviour of Drosophila adult hindgut stem cells is controlled by Wnt and Hh signalling. Nature. 2008;454(7204):651-5.

123. Lin G, Xu N, Xi R. Paracrine Wingless signalling controls self-renewal of Drosophila intestinal stem cells. Nature. 2008;455(7216):1119-23.

124. Ohlstein B, Spradling A. Multipotent Drosophila intestinal stem cells specify daughter cell fates by differential notch signaling. Science. 2007;315(5814):988-92.

125. Atreya R, Neurath MF. Signaling molecules: the pathogenic role of the IL-6/STAT-3 trans signaling pathway in intestinal inflammation and in colonic cancer. Current drug targets. 2008;9(5):369-74.

126. Snodgrass RE. Principles of insect morphology: Cornell University Press; 2018.

127. Xie T. Stem cell in the adult Drosophila hindgut: just a sleeping beauty. Cell stem cell. 2009;5(3):227-8.

128. Fox DT, Spradling AC. The Drosophila hindgut lacks constitutively active adult stem cells but proliferates in response to tissue damage. Cell stem cell. 2009;5(3):290-7.

129. Christofi T, Apidianakis Y. Ras-oncogenic Drosophila hindgut but not midgut cells use an inflammation-like program to disseminate to distant sites. Gut Microbes. 2013;4(1):54-9.

130. Bangi E, Pitsouli C, Rahme LG, Cagan R, Apidianakis Y. Immune response to bacteria induces dissemination of Ras-activated Drosophila hindgut cells. EMBO reports. 2012;13(6):569-76.

131. Anderl I, Vesala L, Ihalainen TO, Vanha-aho L-M, Andó I, Rämet M, et al. Transdifferentiation and proliferation in two distinct hemocyte lineages in Drosophila melanogaster larvae after wasp infection. PLoS pathogens. 2016;12(7):e1005746.

132. Viennois E, Chen F, Laroui H, Baker MT, Merlin D. Dextran sodium sulfate inhibits the activities of both polymerase and reverse transcriptase: lithium chloride purification, a rapid and efficient technique to purify RNA. BMC Research Notes. 2013;6(1):360.

133. Kistner C, Matamoros M. RNA isolation using phase extraction and LiCl precipitation. Lotus japonicus Handbook: Springer; 2005. p. 123-4.

134. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. methods. 2001;25(4):402-8.

135. Goto A, Kadowaki T, Kitagawa Y. Drosophila hemolectin gene is expressed in embryonic and larval hemocytes and its knock down causes bleeding defects. Developmental biology. 2003;264(2):582-91.

136. Kurucz É, Márkus R, Zsámboki J, Folkl-Medzihradszky K, Darula Z, Vilmos P, et al. Nimrod, a putative phagocytosis receptor with EGF repeats in Drosophila plasmatocytes. Current Biology. 2007;17(7):649-54.

137. Li S, Torre-Muruzabal T, Søgaard KC, Ren GR, Hauser F, Engelsen SM, et al. Expression patterns of the Drosophila neuropeptide CCHamide-2 and its receptor may suggest hormonal signaling from the gut to the brain. PloS one. 2013;8(10):e76131.

138. Shehab M, Sherri N, Hussein H, Salloum N, Rahal EA. Endosomal Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) mediate enhancement of IL-17A production triggered by Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA in mice. Journal of virology. 2019:JVI. 00987-19.

139. Kawada M, Arihiro A, Mizoguchi E. Insights from advances in research of chemically induced experimental models of human inflammatory bowel disease. World journal of gastroenterology: WJG. 2007;13(42):5581.

140. May CL, Kaestner KH. Gut endocrine cell development. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2010;323(1):70.

141. Hendzel MJ, Wei Y, Mancini MA, Van Hooser A, Ranalli T, Brinkley B, et al. Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of histone H3 initiates primarily within pericentromeric heterochromatin during G2 and spreads in an ordered fashion coincident with mitotic chromosome condensation. Chromosoma. 1997;106(6):348-60.

142. Hori A, Kurata S, Kuraishi T. Unexpected role of the IMD pathway in Drosophila gut defense against Staphylococcus aureus. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2018;495(1):395-400.

143. Häcker H, Vabulas RM, Takeuchi O, Hoshino K, Akira S, Wagner H. Immune cell activation by bacterial CpG-DNA through myeloid differentiation marker 88 and tumor necrosis factor receptor–associated factor (TRAF) 6. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2000;192(4):595-600.

144. Bond D, Foley E. A quantitative RNAi screen for JNK modifiers identifies Pvr as a novel regulator of Drosophila immune signaling. PLoS pathogens. 2009;5(11):e1000655.